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	PREFACE

	How many English streets, squares, monuments, and licensed premises bear the name of Wellington? His title has become one of the commonplaces of urban, and even Imperial, topography. He has his thoroughfares and schools and clubs and institutions; obelisks and open spaces still take their names from him, though he has vanished from the bootmaker’s. Yet his memory, in spite of all these verbal honorifics, seems a trifle faded. He cast so large a shadow once; all Europe was his province, and no public act was quite complete until the Duke approved. There was no other Duke; how could there be?

	But he survives to later memory as little more than the instrument of a single victory and the gruff hero of a dozen anecdotes; and one is left reflecting on the contraction of that vast achievement to so meagre a residue. It was inevitable, perhaps, that his Indian career should be forgotten, since silence is posterity’s one repartee to Anglo-Indian reminiscences. But seven years of patient and brilliantly successful warfare in the Peninsula, by which the British expeditionary force was brought from a beach in Portugal to the recovery of Spain and a victorious invasion of Napoleonic France, are less easily mislaid. Yet such a steady march to victory was, perhaps a shade inimical to his chances of lasting popularity in England. For a kindly nation seems to prefer its heroes slightly unsuccessful; its mind dwells more readily upon a last stand or a forlorn hope than upon the unchivalrous details of a crushing victory; and if it is to be allowed to choose, its favourite event will always be after the pattern of Rorke’s Drift, its chosen hero in the manner of Sir John Moore. Judged by these sentimental tests, Wellington’s career in Spain was far too successful to be really appealing. A second factor intervened to wither his Peninsular laurels, since British tradition is predominantly maritime and loves to murmur, with Admiral Mahan, that “those far-distant, storm-beaten ships, upon  which the Grand Army never looked, stood between it and the dominion of the world.” It is profoundly flattering to an island race to view sea-power as the deus ex machina of war; and the Blue Water view of history is so picturesque. Besides, it substitutes for adoration the sprightlier figure of Nelson who, though victorious, at least atoned for his success by falling in the hour of victory. But it is hardly just to those British soldiers whose efforts actually won the war, which sea-power alone was impotent to win.

	And Waterloo? That, surely, cannot have been forgotten. Hardly; though a century of French assertion, combined with a steadily increasing Napoleonic cult, seems to have imposed the odd belief that Waterloo was lost by the Emperor rather than won by Wellington. His years of peace slide still more easily towards oblivion, since a generation with peace-treaties of its own is scarcely impressed by authors of earlier peace-treaties; though it might well spare a glance for a system which effectually silenced the guns of Europe for half a century and for a soldier who inspired such universal trust that the whole problem of Reparations was left by common consent in his hands.

	His subsequent career in politics has done more, perhaps, than any other influence to efface his memory, since it provoked the Whigs. By a peculiar division of labour British history, quite considerable parts of which have been made by Tories, has been very largely written by Whigs; and Whig historians are a little apt to dispose summarily of Tory reputations. Viewed by such eyes, the Duke became a stiff-necked conqueror trailing an unwelcome scabbard into civilian assemblies. It was even feared that his faith in democracy was imperfect, that he did not trust the people. Why should he? Half his life had been devoted to a war against the French Revolution; and it was hardly likely that he would find revolution any more congenial because it happened to be English. Crowds had no sanctity for him—he had seen far too many—and the purely arithmetical basis of democracy failed to impress the Duke. Shocked by this revelation, the Nineteenth Century tended to belittle his entire achievement. Perhaps the Twentieth may feel inclined to number it among his merits. 

	At any rate, his portrait richly deserves to hang in the great gallery of English prose. But it is not there yet, though it is nearly eighty years since the Duke died. Stevenson, who was once to paint it for a series of Andrew Lang’s, fingered the brushes for a little while. Many hands have sketched his long career (and I am indebted to almost all of them); but when Waterloo is passed, they nearly always falter, and the story dies away in a desultory stream of anecdote. I have tried to follow its whole course; and when novelists devote a quarter of a million words to the records of persons who did nothing in particular, I make no apology for requiring three-quarters of that quantity to describe the Duke of Wellington. Indeed, his career might even entitle him to the full ration customary for the portrayal of a thoughtful bank-clerk or an introspective commercial traveller. But in this case brevity has a real value, since his reputation seems to lie buried under the immense cairn of printed matter which posterity has raised in his honour. His correspondence has been printed in thirty-four volumes; and those 20,000 pages are the foundation of this book. I have done my best to supplement them by exploring the vast literature of his age and by using a mass of unpublished MS. material. The richest treasury of documents is, of course, at Apsley House; and the generosity of the Duke of Wellington in giving me full access to the papers has been of inestimable value. For the rest, the magnitude of the undertaking has laid me under so many obligations for unpublished material, illustrations, and other assistance that I am forced to tabulate my acknowledgments.
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	But though my thanks are tabulated, my gratitude is not.

	One further source of information has been explored, since places are frequently as informing as documents. I have, therefore, so far as possible, studied the Duke’s career on the spot. Whilst I make no pretence to supplement the military historians, numerous journeys to Spain and Portugal have familiarised me with the Peninsula; and I have made detailed studies of the ground at Salamanca, Talavera, Burgos, San Sebastian, and the lines of Torres Vedras. I have visited such points of minor interest as the Duke’s school at Angers, and the scenes of his early life in Ireland. The kindness of the Duke of Wellington enabled me to conduct the greater part of my documentary researches in my subject’s own library at Apsley House; and I am indebted to the Marchioness Douro for a sight of Stratfield Saye and to Earl Beauchamp for a thorough exploration of Walmer Castle. But I cannot conclude my thanks without particular acknowledgment of the sustained and various assistance which I have received from Lord Gerald Wellesley, who has made many of these expeditions possible, taken part in some of them, furnished unpublished documents, and given every aid to my undertaking.

	The writing of this book, though it is founded upon much earlier reading and travel, was begun in 1928; and since that date it has extinguished all other interests (and almost all other occupations) for me. I feel bound to thank all who have borne with me during that time—and one dear person in particular.

	P. G.

	1931

	
 

	 

	CONTENTS

	
		

				i.

				The Education of Arthur Wesley

				1

		

		
				ii.

				Sepoy General

				67

		

		
				iii.

				Dublin Castle

				119

		

		
				iv.

				Peninsular

				157

		

		
				v.

				1815

				261

		

		
				vi.

				Occupied Territory

				293

		

		
				vii.

				The Cabinet

				313

		

		
				viii.

				Prime Minister

				363

		

		
				ix.

				Rearguard Action

				405

		

		
				x.

				Apotheosis

				441

		

		
				 

				Index

				483

		

	


	
 

	The Education of Arthur Wesley

	La gloire des grands hommes se doit mesurer aux moyens qu’ils ont eus pour l’acquérir—La Rochefoucauld.

	
 

	I

	Castes mark their children deeply; and as a caste, the English gentry resident in Ireland were pronounced. Every conquest leaves a caste behind it, since conquerors are always apt to perpetuate their victory in superior social pretensions. Had not the Romans been the noblemen of Europe? Even a Norman raid became an aristocracy in England; and in Ireland the Anglo-Norman conquest left a similar deposit. Such castes are frequently absorbed, assimilated by their subject populations. But where race combines with religious differences and recurrent insurrection to keep the two apart, the schism is absolute and the conquerors remain an alien caste. Such castes, where they survive, are aristocratic by necessity, since their hauteur is less a mannerism than the sole condition of their survival. For without a sinful pride the conqueror will vanish, merged in his subject population—the Norman turned Englishman, the Anglo-Irish a mere Irishman, and the Anglo-Indian “gone native.” But while their pride remains, the little garrisons live on.

	Generations of secluded life amongst an alien and subject population breeds aristocrats. For the perpetual proximity of inferiors is a rare school of high demeanour. Anglo-Irish magnates knew themselves observed by long, resentful rows of Irish eyes; and what conqueror could condescend before such an audience? The silent watchers made and kept them prouder than ever; and in the last half of the Eighteenth Century the Anglo-Irish magnate was indisputably grand seigneur. The visitor from England might stare at occasional crudities—at oxen roasted whole, at fourteen meat dishes for dinner, at a host who sat before his claret half the day and all night long, lord of “vast but unproductive” acres, dispensing in a mansion “spacious but dilapidated” hospitality that was “lavish but inelegant.” The Irish ton, perhaps, was sometimes a shade barbaric. There was an awkward contrast between the Duke of Leinster’s guests at Carton and the little houses of Maynooth huddled at its gates, while behind the big façade the house-party breakfasted to the sound of French horns off chocolate and honey and an immense table of “hot  1769 bread—cold bread—brown bread—white bread—green bread, and all coloured breads and cakes.” A chasm yawned between the classes, as it yawned between Versailles and France. But safe on the hither side the gentry lived their lordly lives, drank claret, toasted the “glorious, pious, and immortal memory,” ran races, and matched fighting-cocks. Their very differences wore an aristocratic colour, since they adored the point of honour; and Dublin duellists met behind Lucas’s Coffee-house near the Castle with more than contemporary gusto. Even their rivalries were lordly. As their rents rode ever higher on the mounting tide of Irish population, they scattered their argosies (and mortgaged their remotest prospects) in the lordliest game of all. For they built as recklessly as kings. The trim Palladian façades rose gracefully in every Irish county; tall windows looked down innumerable avenues of trees towards the ornamental water; obelisks defined the prospect; and Grecian temples ornamented the demesne with hints of the antique. Outbuilding neighbours afforded even richer sport than horse-racing; and a light-hearted gentry built with an increasing fervour, since rents could never fall while tenants swarmed in every cabin. Besides, borrowing was always easy; and the cheerful landlords sat before their wine in the new glories of their mansions, an aristocracy indeed.

	They bore themselves, besides, with the immense patrician dignity that comes from superposition on a foundation of slavery. For the native Irish, even in the last years of the Eighteenth Century, were not far removed from slavery. The lash, the penal laws, the casual assault arouse misgivings in the onlooker. Misgivings turn to suspicion, when an English visitor notes that “a landlord in Ireland can scarcely invent an order which a servant, labourer, or cotter dares to refuse to execute. . . . Disrespect, or anything tending towards sauciness, he may punish with his cane or his horse-whip with the most perfect security. . . . Knocking down is spoken of in the country in a way that makes an Englishman stare.” Suspicion deepens, as the same eye observes the strings of little Irish cars along the winding Irish roads “whipped into a ditch by a gentleman’s footman, to make way for his carriage”; the “spalpeen broker,” shipping his gangs of barefooted mountaineers to work in English fields, confirms it. It met the observant eye of Arthur Young a few years later—“Speaking a language that is despised, professing a religion  1769 that is abhorred, and being disarmed, the poor find themselves in many cases slaves even in the bosom of written liberty.” And when a Lord-Lieutenant writes that “the poor people in Ireland are used worse than negroes by their lords and masters, and their deputies of deputies of deputies,” the whole unpleasing truth appears.

	For the nearest social parallel to rural Ireland was to be found three thousand miles away in the cotton-fields of Carolina. There, too, a little caste lived on its acres. The grace of Southern manners on the white-pillared porches of Colonial mansions matches the ease of Irish country-houses. There is the same profusion, the same improvidence against the same background of slavery. The same defects recur. Even the fighting-men and gamesters of the Irish countryside, who “kept miserable packs of half-starved hounds, wandered about from fair to fair and from race to race in laced coats, gambling, fighting, drinking, swearing, ravishing, and sporting, parading everywhere their contempt for honest labour,” are reproduced in every unprepossessing detail on Mississippi levées. Ireland, it seems, had Southern wastrels as well as Southern charm. For who can fail to recognise the meaner types of Southern life in “the class of little country gentlemen, . . . bucks, your fellows with round hats edged with gold, who hunt in the day, get drunk in the evening, and fight the next morning”? Small wonder, then, that a mild critic finds the Irish upper classes “exposed to all the characteristic vices of slaveholders, for they formed a dominant caste, ruling over a population who were deprived of all civil rights and reduced to a condition of virtual slavery. They were separated from their tenants by privilege, by race, by religion, by the memory of inexpiable wrongs.” The fires of religious persecution had burned low, since persecution connotes an enthusiastic faith; and enthusiasm was the last defect of an Irish Churchman in 1769. For a thoughtful Deist could hardly be expected to derive unlimited satisfaction from the spectacle of his brother-Deist at the stake. But though persecution had almost vanished, its legacy of social inequality remained. There were still serfs and, not less deeply caste-marked, “Protestant Bashaws.” Slavery survived, and the vast dignity that marks slaveholders. For such a caste does not part lightly with the lordly faith that some are born to rule and some to serve. Elsewhere the same soil put out the stiff blossoms of Washington and Lee; and something, perhaps, of that unbending quality  1769 in war and statesmanship which grows in cotton-fields was latent in Ireland’s Virginian gentry.

	But though their aristocracy was real enough, the temptation (always strong) to view eighteenth-century life as a protracted costume play is nowhere stronger than in Ireland. Not that it was a genteel comedy of wigs and patches, devised by stage costumiers and laboriously played with carefully flirted handkerchiefs and dutifully taken snuff. The Dublin round—ridotto, dinner, dance, Italian opera, charity concert, Drawing-room—was natural enough. For one lived as other people lived in 1769, when all life in its more elegant forms had a faint air of bal travesti. But if the whole prevailing air was slightly unreal, still greater unreality hung on the air of Dublin, until it almost seemed a masquerade. Indeed, it was—a light-hearted masquerade where pleasant, slightly insignificant persons wore the impressive costumes of great officers of state. It was a little parody of England—Court, judges, bishops, Lords, and Commons—played out upon the stage of Dublin and watched with scared indifference by rows of Irish eyes. The stage was crowded; Lord Chancellors elbowed Masters of the Rolls; Privy Councillors nodded on every side to major-generals; bishops abounded; and there was a glorious profusion of Hereditary High Treasurers, Chief Barons, Remembrancers, and every known variety of public dignitary, with functions and without. The rôles were awe-inspiring; but the maskers often seem a shade inadequate under their dominoes. For lawyers, whose merits might reasonably have escaped detection in the Temple or Lincoln’s Inn, appear in ermine on the Irish bench; and estimable clergymen, designed at best to fill a quiet canonry, inhabit vast episcopal palaces and preach to hushed cathedrals. It was the Irish masquerade, a delectable charade in which a little group of English families played at the government of Ireland upon a high and lighted stage in Dublin.

	Dublin, in the spring weather of 1769, was never more Dublin. Somewhere beyond the hard, blue waters of St. George’s Channel the Irish packets found a city where the ordered elegance of pagan ornament proclaimed the Eighteenth Century. For it was eighteenth-century indeed. Grilles, cornices, and porticoes attested it. Flambeaux announced the fact with iron tracery; door after door insisted blandly with a delicious fanlight and a pair of elegant pilasters; it echoed from painted walls where  1769 the discreet festoons wandered from urn to urn; unnumbered chandeliers nodded assent with every gleaming prism; and where ceilings were an exquisite blend of stucco and mythology, marble deities reclined in bas-relief on innumerable mantelpieces. Murmuring (in heroic couplets) the last enchantment of the Eighteenth Century, Dublin sat decorously true to type beside its river. Other capitals might falter in their allegiance. In London the steady pulse of the century, shaken dangerously by the disordered tramp of Mr. Wilkes’ supporters, wavered a little; it throbbed faintlier now in Paris under an ageing king; and, ingenious Mr. Townshend aiding with a tax on tea, tempers rose in Boston to a most inelegant pitch. Perhaps the Eighteenth Century might not last for ever. Boston rioters and Middlesex electors almost seemed to suggest a doubt. But could it ever end in Dublin? Dimly conceivable elsewhere, the notion there became wholly unthinkable. Every doorway seemed to deny it; each modish column barred the way; and carved divinities looked down in bland denial, refused the extravagant surmise with every attribute held in their marble hands or poured from their cornucopiæ and, the wild thought dismissed, resumed their allegories. So Flora’s altar smoked again with stony clouds of incense, Ceres renewed her sheaves, and Endymion his slumbers. Behind the porticoes of Dublin it would always be the Eighteenth Century. For the stamp of its century was unmistakably on Dublin.

	And on its people, too. It was not easy to be born in Dublin, where every wall exhaled it, and escape the Eighteenth Century. Had not Mr. Walpole informed Pitt’s sister Anne a few years since that “all the spirit or wit or poetry on which we subsist comes from Dublin”? At the Castle on spring nights in 1769 loyal ladies dropped their curtseys to Lord Townshend by Viceregal candlelight, while their lords said hard things about him in the Irish House of Commons with a watchful eye upon the pension list. Perhaps the face of politics was slightly unprepossessing. Even Mr. Walpole had enquired a trifle acidly, “Pray, sir, how does virtue sell in Ireland now?” Placemen filled places, pensioners drew pensions, and in a dim perspective beyond Dublin landlords collected rent. Something, perhaps, was stirring on those shadowy hills where flitting figures burned outbuildings, houghed cattle, or cropped Protestant ears, as the Irish pipes wailed out The Lad with the White  1769 Cockade. Rebellious Whiteboys were matched by Oakboys no less outrageous and even by Steelboys, while distracted soldiers shot impartially at either. But Dublin went on as usual. Ladies poured tea in Sackville Street; their lords fingered decanters; and Signora Cotilloni, fresh from her triumphs in “a neighbouring kingdom,” begged leave of the Dublin Mercury to acquaint the nobility and gentry of her arrival and of her intention to open a Dancing Academy, and even to perfect her female pupils “in all the necessary manœuvres of coquetry, to manage the eyes to advantage, to smile a man into hopes or frown him into uncertainty, to deny favours without offending, and grant them with grace,” the whole concluding with the loyal (and not untimely) sentiment, Honi soit qui mal y pense.

	That week Lord Mornington, lately removed from Grafton Street, was with his countess at their new town house. They were in treaty with Lord Antrim for the lease; but the house seemed to be theirs already. Built in the latest mode, it stood in Merrion Street, and the two stately flambeaux were not unworthy to enlighten guests in search of Mornington House. Their ceilings were a graceful medley. Urns, shells, and garlands graced the new dining-room, where convivial Irish gentlemen might finger convivial Irish glass, while the ceiling in the drawing-room was a more womanish affair of birds and flower-baskets. But these new glories failed to engage Lady Mornington, since she lay upstairs in the big bedroom at the back. It looked across a little garden to the open space of Merrion Square. A harassed doctor called; the apothecary from Dawson Street brought round a soothing draught; and then a child—her sixth—was born on May Day, 1769. They called him Arthur, and the Dublin round was undisturbed. Fine gentlemen fought duels; coaches went up and down the street; ladies stepped out of chairs; wits rhymed; and the long tide crept slowly round the bay from Dalkey to the hill of Howth. 

	
II

	The happy father was an earl. He was, besides, Professor of Music at Trinity College, Dublin. For he was an earl of parts. Earldom itself, indeed, was something of a novelty, since it was barely nine years old. Lord Mornington was a Wesley of Dangan, son of the first Lord Mornington who, born a Colley of Castle Carbury, had inherited both name and fortune from his cousin, Garrett Wesley, whose mother had been a Colley. The name of Wesley accompanied the money; and the same generous impulse had once suggested to the wealthier Wesleys a frustrated interest in Charles Wesley, then passing through Oxford on the long road to Methodism. The Colleys, emerging from the English Midlands in the later Middle Ages, had retained their English purity through three centuries of life in Ireland. No single Irish name adorns their pedigree; and when Richard Colley, as his cousin’s heir, assumed in 1728 the no less English name of Wesley, they were still Anglo-Irish squires.

	The Wesley fortune eased affairs. There was an ampler air; the family was moved to the big house at Dangan, and its new master entered the Irish House of Commons for the adjacent and well-disciplined borough of Trim. He planned improvements in the grounds, planted considerably, and dwelt upon the pleasing theme of ornamental water. There were to be canals that ships might ride on, lakes with islands in them, and a sufficiency of temples. It was an easy, cheerful home where everyone assembled in the hall for breakfast, shuttlecock, a little dancing, draughts, and family prayers, or strolled about the grounds and visited the temples. Apollo, Neptune, and Diana each received due honour in their shrines, and the company paraded gravely, bearing white staffs inscribed with their “Parnassus names” and complaining slightly that it made them look “like the sheriff’s men at the assizes.” For hospitality at Dangan extended even to the supply of classical allusions, and lady visitors were gratified by the rôles allotted them in Mr. Wesley’s mythological charades. A delighted guest informed her correspondent that she was “nothing less  1730 than Madam Venus,” whilst one belle united in her lovely person all three Graces, and their host was a trifle apt to nominate three rival goddesses and to reserve for the master of the house the arch rôle of Paris. He had an organ in the hall, and there was always a good deal of music. They often breakfasted to the harpsichord, to say nothing of a simultaneous game of shuttlecock. For bewildered guests found the Wesleys equal to the contrasted charms of drinking chocolate, the battledore, and counterpoint in the big hall at Dangan, all at once and without apparent interference with the enjoyment of either. Their picnics were invariably to music. Even on a little run from Dublin they hesitated to rely upon the unaided powers of “cold fowl, lamb, pigeon pye, Dutch beef, tongue, cockells, sallad, much variety of liquors, and the finest syllabub that ever was tasted.” But the Muses were invoked, a lady placed at the harpsichord jangled a little, and afterwards Mr. Wesley’s violin kept time to his daughters’ dancing. For, as a courtly ear observed, he “played well (for a gentleman) on the violin.” Sometimes, indeed, they essayed the grander pleasures of a water-concert on the canal at Dangan where, their flag hoisted on “a very pretty boat,” they rowed harmoniously between the listening fields of Meath.

	So, music and the classics aiding, the years passed pleasantly. An heir appeared; Mr. Wesley, presently ennobled as Lord Mornington, passed to the Irish House of Lords; the big house was burnt and sumptuously rebuilt. Mythology reigned in the grounds; the temples multiplied, and seats for exhausted worshippers graced every alley; obelisks abounded; and each sacred grove displayed the gracious gleam of statuary. Presently a visiting godmother found a small Garrett Wesley, whose one desire was to celebrate her arrival with an artillery salute. For he was governor of a tiny fort, as well as lord high admiral of a considerable fleet that rode on the canal, comprising the yawl Fanny and the barge Pretty Betty, the whole commanded by the flagship Caroline, a model of the King’s yacht, carrying a battery of guns and a complement of two, destined originally for presentation to a royal duke and acquired by some happy accident for Dangan. But when the honour of a salvo was declined politely, his instinct for military courtesies was satisfied by hoisting all his flags at once.

	The boy was musical. Indeed, one feels that unless he had been, life  1744 at Dangan with an organ in the hall and the harpsichord at breakfast would have been unbearable. But while the first Lord Mornington played well (for a gentleman), his heir stood in no need of such genteel allowances. For he approached proficiency of a more plebeian order. In fine, he was a prodigy. Almost from birth the infant marvel intimated his enjoyment of his father’s performances by beating time; and as the air changed pace, awed onlookers saw the tiny hands alter their beat. Nor did his growth belie the promise of these talented gesticulations. The dawn of taste even preceded speech. For when a guest essayed to take the violin from his father, the infant interposed; and the transfer could only be effected while the small, indignant hands were held. But the visitor proving to be no less than the celebrated Dubourg, the fastidious infant, having once heard that virtuoso, was with difficulty persuaded to permit the noble amateur to resume his instrument. Indeed, when Dubourg was in the house, the child, with rare (if scarcely pious) discernment, would never let his father play. At nine he scraped a bow himself, rendering Christ Church Bells and Sing one, two, three, come follow me, and shortly afterwards played second violin in Corelli’s Sonatas, an experience to which connoisseurs attributed that lifelong steadiness in time which never, it was said, deserted him. Then, pricked by the emulation which stirs musicians to their greatest efforts, he turned composer. For a local clergyman, having won considerable applause with a country dance of his own composition, Master Wesley responded with a minuet marred by a slight excess of fifths, and shortly afterwards achieved a duet for French horns and an Andante. His gifts survived the discouragements incidental to membership of a large and cheerful family, since his sisters drove him continually from the harpsichord in a sisterly opinion that he spoiled the instrument. But he played by stealth; and when an organ was installed in the chapel at Dangan, he startled the family by playing an impromtu fugue at the organ-maker’s. His studies progressed; and though he lacked formal instruction, compositions flowed from his pen with such happy consequences that when he consulted Rosengrave and Geminiani, those masters modestly replied that they could not be of the least service to one who had already mastered the science.

	The gentle youth grew up; and his godmother found him at thirteen  1748 “a most extraordinary boy,” almost unnaturally good at lessons and playing the violin at sight. His varied accomplishments extended to shipbuilding and fortification as well as music; and their diversity was almost equal to her own somewhat injudiciously assorted passions for conchology, gossip, fossils, and every form of petrifaction. For she was no less than Mrs. Delany. At twenty-two he stepped sedately into the family borough, and uneventfully represented Trim in the Irish House of Commons. In the next year his father died, and he succeeded to the title. The exacting dowager found him a trifle lacking in “the punctilios of good breeding.” Perhaps a nobleman required a thought more polish than the organ and Trinity College, Dublin, had power to impart; and when he chose a wife, her disapproval grew more pointed. His first choice was admirable. Lady Louisa Lenox was a duke’s daughter; and all was smiles, until Mr. Conolly, of Castletown, offered his ampler means. The rival, as a loyal godmother confessed, had “double his fortune (and perhaps about half his merit).” But even dukes are human; and Lord Mornington was blandly informed that “the young lady had an insurmountable dislike to him.” The wounded lover reeled; for the ducal alliance was not without its savour. But his wounds were promptly assuaged by Miss Hill, of Belvoir. Her father, though he had once kept a bank in Dublin, was younger brother to a viscount. Perhaps his manners were a shade excessive, since he was always apt to give a slightly unconvincing rendering of the fine gentleman. But, manners apart, he was agreeable, “with a little pepper in his composition,” which might enliven the mild Wesley stock. The bride was turned sixteen, a fine young woman in Mrs. Delany’s estimation, although “rather a little clumsy, but with fine complexion, teeth, and nails, with a great deal of modesty and good-humour.” These charms prevailing, the young Lord Mornington paid his addresses. Mr. Hill was gallantly informed that the eager bridegroom asked no fortune, was even prepared to make a settlement himself; if the bride had any fortune, he chivalrously “desired it might be laid out in jewels for her.” So all was smiles again. The clothes were bought; the settlements were drawing up; and Lord Mornington was seen at the play in Dublin, looking a little solemn.

	They were a happy pair, though his exacting godmother still had her moments of uncertainty as to how far her qualities would remedy  1759 his defects. He was “a very good young man on the whole,” if slightly lacking in punctilio; but Anne Mornington herself lacked finish, although she made shell flowers. (Yet even then she seemed wanting in distinction; for when she furnished Mrs. Delany with a shell or so for her endless decorations, they were nothing rare.) Unclouded by these mysterious defects, their life opened happily enough. They lived at Dangan or in Grafton Street. An heir was born in Dublin, and a grateful press recorded “the great joy of that noble family.” King George II died; and the new reign brought Mornington a step in the Irish peerage. A pleasing fancy traces his earldom to the new sovereign’s interest in music; but it had a likelier connection with the exigencies of Irish government, since the fountain of honour played steadily upon obliging Dublin legislators, and the next dozen years enriched the Irish nobility with thirty-three barons, sixteen viscounts, and twenty-four earls.

	The new Earl of Mornington had his own interests. For the Muses followed him to Dublin, where he initiated a Musical Academy and supported burlesque productions in opposition to the Italian burletta of a rival theatre. It was an age of musical refinement, when Irishmen proudly recorded that “the god of music had taken a large stride from the Continent over England to this island . . . and it has been observed that Corelli is a name in more mouths than many of our Lord-Lieutenants.” Respectful instrumentalists played Handel to listening cathedrals; and when Lord Mornington essayed a charity concert, an orchestra of noblemen and gentlemen obeyed his bâton. A Lord-Lieutenant’s daughter sang; there was a peer among the flutes; a noble clergyman bowed diligently above his ’cello. The Italian taste prevailed; and one vocalist recalled to a disgusted ear Mingotti’s “trills and squalls.” But these ardours did not check Mornington’s melodious pen, which ran mostly to Church music, with strong predilection for full harmony and the minor third, but had its lighter moments. For he could even stoop to glees, and grateful glee-singers rendering Here in cool grot and Come, fairest nymph acknowledged a noble author. ’Twas you, Sir, was his work as well, to say nothing of By greenwood tree and Gently hear me, charming maid. Small wonder, then, that Trinity College conferred a Doctorate of Music and even advanced the earl to be professor. For music had quite  1769 vanquished his earlier leanings towards naval architecture and the principles of Vauban.

	Meanwhile his family increased. They had named the heir Richard after the first Lord Mornington; and the happy infant bore the title of Viscount Wellesley, a prouder, mediæval form of Wesley. The second was called Arthur after her father; but he did not survive, and the first Arthur Wesley died in childhood. Then came a third son, named William, followed by a short-lived Francis, and a daughter, whom they christened Anne after Lady Mornington. The sixth child, born at the new house in Merrion Street, was a boy. They called him Arthur, too. So he got her father’s name and perhaps (who knows?) something of her father’s pepper. 

	
III

	Life opened for the child in Dublin; and as they brought him down the big staircase lit by its one tall, pillared window for his first outing in Merrion Street, the bland, unhurried days followed each other. Not that the times were bland. It was a wild decade, that opened (in Mr. Walpole’s pained enumeration) with “no Government, no police, London and Middlesex distracted, the Colonies in rebellion, Ireland ready to be so, and France arrogant, and on the point of being hostile.” Crowds had an ugly tendency to roar God save great Wilkes our king, and public men were in a flutter—“Lord Bute accused of all and dying in a panic; George Grenville wanting to make rage desperate; Lord Rockingham, the Duke of Portland, and the Cavendishes thinking we have no enemies but Lord Bute and Dyson, and that four mutes and an epigram can set everything to rights; the Duke of Grafton like an apprentice, thinking the world should be postponed to a whore and a horse-race; and the Bedfords not caring what disgraces we undergo, while each of them has £3,000 a year and three thousand bottles of claret and champagne.” That summer—Arthur Wesley’s first—London was alarmed by a terrific revenant. For at St. James’s men heard the blind tapping of a familiar crutch across the palace floor, looked nervously behind them, and saw the tormented eyes under the peak of a great wig which were all that remained of Chatham. The old man had come to Court again, “himself” (as Mr. Walpole tittered) “in propriâ personâ, and not in a strait-waistcoat”; and his sovereign’s eyes protruded more than ever, as that imperial nose descended with tremendous deference to meet those ailing knees. Overseas the angry quaver of Mr. Samuel Adams’s voice hung on the air of Boston; lion and unicorn still ramped cosily upon the State House; but who could say how long they would remain with an angry voice insisting that taxation was slavery, that Rome was never better than when it had no king, that thirty thousand men with bayonets and knapsacks would infallibly spring from the soil of Massachusetts. It was a flurried age, when Mr. Walpole feared the worst and England lived uneasily under the mosaic  1776 ministry of Burke’s inimitable apologue; and in the wings Lord North was waiting for his turn.

	But these discontents scarcely reached Mornington House. Burke wrote a pamphlet; and Lord Mornington composed a glee. The angry Junius strained the limits of invective; and that gentle nobleman made a mild addition to the English hymnal. Mobs roared; and he was seen, a little puffy now, bending a dark, shaven chin above deft fingers at the keyboard. As America flamed into civil war, his peaceful bâton waved imperturbably above the busy violins of Dublin gentlemen at a charity concert. His calm was perfect—almost, it would seem, too perfect for his countess, since Mr. Walpole breathed to Lady Ossory a wicked “history of Lady Mornington,” asking with finished malice “where should bawds and bishops pay court but to youthful hypocrisy! Could her Ladyship apprehend a cold reception where Lord Pembroke is a Lord of the Bedchamber?” Once, indeed, his calm was interrupted, when a Dublin footpad named Murphy stopped his sedan-chair, let off a pistol, and removed his lordship’s gold watch with all his money. But the rogue was apprehended and left to dangle in a halter on the mound at the corner of St. Stephen’s Green.

	Sometimes they breathed the calmer air of Dangan; and from the big windows of his country home the small Arthur Wesley saw Meath rolling gently into the distance. They sent him to the little school at Trim just down the road, where his brother Wellesley had displayed his early promise. That promise was, indeed, their pride. For Richard, their eldest, was exceptionally gifted; the other children lived in awe, and a loyal family prepared to applaud the rise of Richard Wellesley. He rose, whilst Arthur played at home with William and Anne, to Harrow. But Harrow failed to hold the aspiring youth for more than eighteen months, since a school riot, occasioned by the appointment of an Etonian headmaster, claimed him. Marked by these prejudices as a born Etonian, he was removed and sent to Eton. His faculties reviving in that nobler air, he became a prodigious Latinist and a considerable Grecian. They were all in England now; for the family (increased by the addition of a small Gerald, a still smaller Henry, and a tiny Mary Elizabeth) had let the Dublin house and moved to Knightsbridge. Lord Mornington was heard at the harpsichord one night at Lady Stamford’s, where a distinguished  Aet. 7 amateur played first violin and a lady vocalist rendered Dové sei so sweetly that one grateful member of her audience “slept better than for many nights before.”

	Transplanted from his native island, the small Arthur Wesley studied the rudiments at Brown’s seminary (later dignified as Oxford House Academy) in King’s Road, Chelsea; and the splendid Richard passed on to Christ Church. That was the year that British armies laboured heavily through Carolina, while the mature intelligence of Lord George Germaine was busy organising defeat at the War Office. King George’s guns thudded without conspicuous success in almost every hemisphere. The fires of victory burned low, and every tent was full of disappointed paladins. Gage was at home forgetting Bunker’s Hill; Burgoyne was back in Hertford Street explaining Saratoga; and Howe was polishing his Narrative. Even the fleet, at war with France and Spain and heavily outnumbered, rode insecurely; and for a summer week of madness the mob ran wild for “No Popery” and Lord George Gordon, while the dull glare of burning houses glowed on the London sky. Small wonder that the harassed North begged to resign; but his inexorable sovereign pointed implacably to duty and the unique (though sadly underrated) perfection of the British constitution.

	Like his afflicted country, Lord Mornington was not without his troubles. For the subsequent finances of infant prodigies are often far from cheering. His married life had opened with the rich prospect of eight or ten thousand pounds a year. But twenty years devoted to the Muses (at what cost the Muses only knew) had darkened the financial prospect. Few orchestras enrich their patrons; Musical Academies are rarely remunerative; and his man of affairs in Dublin surveyed a mournful landscape. For his later airs were pitched, like so many of his youthful compositions, in a minor key. Their migration to London, though hardly well-conceived as a measure of economy, had been in the nature of a retreat. They were rather stinted now, “not able to appear in any degree as we ought,” though he still kept his coach. But lodgings in Knightsbridge were a sad decline for the noble maestro; and at the prospect of a continued effort to live on £1,800 a year Lord Mornington grew positively rebellious. There was so much to be provided—Richard’s allowance, and the six younger children’s education, to say nothing of the costly  1781 array of masters requisite if Anne’s accomplishments were to be perfected with due elegance. One estate was already deeply mortgaged; but his dreams in Knightsbridge were haunted by an unpleasant sum of £16,000 that had to be raised somehow. Richard, of course, might join with him to raise it. But would he? After all, that eminent young man would shortly come of age; and he might not consent. Then, was it altogether wise to remove his property from his own power? For he had dismal recollections of too trusting parents sadly ill-treated by their unnatural offspring. It was a depressing problem, for which the hopeful earl found a solution in an ingenious scheme for raising £3,000 a year, rising in a yet more hopeful postscript to the cheering theme of lottery tickets—“If you will send me ten numbers I shall take two and give each of my Children and my Lady one, but don’t let these numbers run all in order, but different thousands if possible.” Such expedients are not unfamiliar in the after-lives of patrons of the arts.

	Nor was the brilliant Richard, trailing a nobleman’s gold tassel from his cap at Christ Church, untouched by these melancholy concerns. His allowance was a family problem, since their touching faith persisted that he was “likely to make a figure in the world from his great abilities,” and such prospects plainly called for at least four hundred pounds a year. But graver themes engaged him in the very moment of his triumph as Chancellor’s prizeman for 1780 with a Latin ode on Captain Cook. His father was unwell, and a prudent counsellor in Dublin reviewed the unpleasing prospect. There was the mortgage, and the debts, and the eternal £16,000 that had to be raised somehow. If the earl recovered, he would really have to live at Dangan. If not, his heir must sell the Dublin house and travel. His adviser, having lived abroad himself and been twice to Italy, grew almost eloquent on travel. The sapient Richard was, he felt, unlikely to indulge in “any of the fashionable vices and follies wch ruin so many young Men,” but touched with a nobler aspiration “to bring home a knowledge of the different Constitutions & Policy of the several States he visits,” a sober programme, with the additional advantage of being vastly cheaper. For his adviser added with justice that “the flowers of travelling may be gathered at a moderate expense, they ornament Character. The weeds are costly, they poison the mind & are a canker in the future.” In fine, when he succeeded, the young gentleman would  Aet. 12 be well advised to economise abroad. His choice came all too soon. For Lord Mornington died in May, 1781, and the Madrigal Society lost their most zealous member. Music apart, he had always been a shade inadequate: Mrs. Delany had foreseen as much. And if she had foreseen his sons, what else could she expect? For fame reserves no niche for the father of the Gracchi.

	So Richard became an earl at twenty, and Arthur at twelve had lost his father. They buried him with seemly state, and more than eighty pounds of Richard’s inheritance vanished in the pious outlay—fourteen mutes with black gloves and truncheons; cloaks and crape hat-bands for the little party of eight mourners; and black gloves for the Knightsbridge landlady, to say nothing of a stupendous canopy (the undertaker’s pride), nodding with sable plumes, and hired for the sad occasion. Two coaches followed him; and for once a Wesley outing lacked its music. Something of him, perhaps, lived on in Arthur’s violin. For the small boy played; and if he remembered anything of his father, it was the pleasant, slightly ineffectual figure conjured up for him three-quarters of a century later by the Muse of Jeames de la Pluche:

	  

	His father praps he sees,

	Most musicle of Lords,

	A-playing madriggles and glees

	Upon the Arpsicords.

	 

	 

	
IV

	The little family bore their bereavement. Now there were only eight of them—Lady Mornington, the fine young woman of Mrs. Delany’s distant recollection, a dowager at thirty-nine; the incomparable Richard; William, just turned eighteen; and Arthur, a boy of twelve, with two small brothers and a pair of sisters. The young earl came down from Oxford and assumed his mournful post as head of the family. Mournful in more ways than one, since family finance in 1781 was uninviting. A thoughtful cousin had, it is true, reduced their burdens by leaving an estate in Queen’s County to William (together with the name of Pole). But something must be done for his mother, to say nothing of five children all waiting for expensive educations and his own career. Besides, there were the debts. It was all highly disagreeable for a rising man. He came of age in June, and the next month he was in Dublin raising mortgages on the Meath lands. But the further programme of an inexpensive Continental tour failed to attract him, since foreign spas afford few opportunities for statesmanship, and Richard was resolved to be a statesman. Taking his seat at the long table of the Irish House of Lords, he quickly shewed that mild temper of rebelliousness which is the surest path to office. But the family were not sacrificed to this brilliant opening. For that very year two of his brothers went to Eton.

	The autumn mists of 1781 crept up from a Virginian river, and the British guns were flagging behind the crumbling works of Yorktown, when Arthur Wesley went to boarding-school. The trap closed on Cornwallis three thousand miles away, as the two small brothers stared round at Eton. For there were two of them. He took Gerald with him; and this pair of Daniels (though one of them was only nine) kept one another in countenance among the lions of their new abode. Lions, indeed, abounded. For Eton, in the spasmodic reign of Jonathan Davies, was a marked advance upon Brown’s academy at Chelsea. Numbers alone were terrifying, since three hundred boys were quite enough to alarm two newcomers from Knightsbridge. Had not the formidable Chatham confessed  Aet. 12 that “he scarce observed a boy who was not cowed for life at Eton; that a public school might suit a boy of turbulent forward disposition, but would not do where there was any gentleness”? But, turbulent or not, the two small Wesleys survived this stern initiation. Lower boys were scarcely disturbed by their vociferous headmaster. That slightly indecorous figure was almost as remote as royalty itself, which was always riding past the Long Walk with empty, staring eyes, or buttonholing stray promenaders on the terrace with his “Well, well, my boy, when were you last flogged, eh, eh?” or, more searchingly, “What’s your name? who’s your tutor? who’s your dame?” concluding the invariable reassurance of, “Very good tutor, very good dame” from royal lips. The two small brothers were largely untroubled by these high matters. But the long ritual of lessons, “absence,” chapels without number, and still more lessons, all to be performed under three hundred pairs of watching eyes, was quite sufficiently alarming.

	They boarded at Naylor’s, played in the muddy garden of the Manor House, and shared rooms with strangers. Decorum did not always reign, since Arthur fought a battle—his very first—with a schoolfellow named Smith, provoked by being stoned while bathing, for whom fate reserved the still more mournful destiny of being brother to a wit (even a thrashing from Arthur Wesley may well have been more palatable than a lifelong course of Sydney’s brightest sayings); and there were schoolboy jokes about the maids, who slept in a room just off the kitchen, termed, with exaggerated courtesy that stayed in Arthur’s memory for forty years, the “Virgins’ bower.” Far more sedate was their scholastic progress. Not theirs the lofty destinies of Richard, whose declamations had drawn tears from royal eyes and compliments from Garrick; no statesmen, lured by their promise, drove down from London to enlist their gifts. For they were not, were very far from being their unnaturally gifted school-fellow George Canning; and no Mr. Fox stopped at their door. Early promise was the last thing about them. Breasting the slope together, they had advanced within the year to “Upper Greek,” where they toyed with Ovid, Terence, and the Vulgate. By the next Easter they were both deep in the recesses of the Fourth Form, sustained upon a sober diet in which, though Ovid still predominated, there were nutritious extras in the way of Cæsar, Æsop, and Greek Testament. It was depressing  1784 to observe how close his younger brother trod to Arthur’s heels; for if Wesley ma. sat fifty-third out of seventy-nine, Wesley mi. came fifty-fourth, the hounds of spring keeping assiduous company with winter’s traces. The fact was not without its consequence for Wesley ma., since he was shortly afterwards withdrawn from Eton. School bills were heavy, and Richard was moving up into the costlier arena of British politics. Besides, there was a third brother now in the abysses of the Lower Remove; and with Wesley minimus to pay for, the ant-like pace at which Wesley ma. scaled Parnassus scarcely rewarded outlay. So early in 1784 his brief rearguard action with the classics ended.

	Its effects remain slightly mysterious. For the classical attainments, with which Eton equipped her sons for public life, were not for him. He once prescribed his rules of public speaking—“One is, I never speak about what I know nothing, and the other, I never quote Latin”—a wise abstention, since his quantities were always uncertain. Did not the nation’s hero, in the full robes of Oxford Chancellor, once alarm the Sheldonian Theatre with a Jacobus whose second syllable was short, hastily atoned for by a Carolus whose second (and still more fatal) syllable was long? Yet, however impervious to Ovid, no Etonian could possibly escape a sense of the indisputable truths of revealed religion, since these were publicly rehearsed with impressive and even wearisome regularity. What else he learned is more obscure. Scarcely, it seems, a genius for friendship. Nor was he formed upon the playing-fields. Indeed, the playing-fields were hardly formed themselves. Cricket and fives were practised; but the remaining catalogue of Eton games varies between the infantile and the purely occult. It is not easy to believe that hoops and hop-scotch developed valuable qualities; few statesmen owe their eminence to early marbles; nor do the martial virtues thrive upon a simple diet of peg-top and battledore. The civic lessons of Bally Cally, Conquering lobs, and Hunt the dark lanthorn must remain enigmatic; but the heartening presence of Puss-in-the-corner may be felt to indicate that the stern reign of pure athletics was still far distant. Nor was Arthur’s own recollection less unheroic. For revisiting the place in later years, he stared into Naylor’s (then Ragueneau’s) garden, and enquired affectionately for a broad, black ditch he used to leap over, adding that in his own belief he owed his spirit of enterprise to the tricks he used to play there. The tribute  Aet. 15 may be found unsatisfying by athletic purists and a shade disappointing even to Etonians, since their playing-fields appear only in the attenuated form of a ditch in a dame’s garden. But, such as it was, he paid it.

	The next instalment of his education took him abroad. For, taste coinciding with finance, his mother chose to travel; and Arthur travelled with her. Not that they travelled far. For their brief journey ended in a town with which he was to have a fuller acquaintance, since they lay at Brussels. The cheerful, slightly equivocal little capital of the Austrian Netherlands lived uneventful days in 1784, only slightly complicated by the unlikely spectacle of a reforming Kaiser. For the solemn Joseph II, who ranked among the best-travelled men in Europe (since he had visited almost all his own dominions), suffered from the fatal illusion that he was a man of his times and—yet more fatal impulse—resolved to move with them. But the times, at any rate in Belgium, were sadly immobile; for the best intentions of Teutonic persons are often wasted upon Belgium, and his most progressive gestures were coldly received by a community that was still obstinately mediæval. To this accompaniment Lady Mornington and Arthur took up their residence in Brussels. It lasted for a year—the year that saw the last of Dr. Johnson and the first of Palmerston, that heard Mr. Pitt denouncing Mr. Fox above the lively uproar of the Westminster election, that saw the Tragic Muse begun and the Decline and Fall nearly ended. Arthur, perhaps, fell something short of her ideal. The retreat from Eton had not been altogether to his credit. And then he was fifteen. Few boys, whatever their moral excellence, are seen to the best advantage at fifteen: an excess of limb scarcely lends charm to an unaccustomed gruffness. Small wonder, then, that Lady Mornington vowed to God she did not know what she should do with her awkward son Arthur. Really, with Richard winning golden opinions in Parliament, William in the Irish House of Commons, Gerald destined for the Church, and Henry still too young to think about, Arthur’s future began to be something of a problem. Meanwhile, it could do him no harm to learn a little French, if only with a Belgian accent.

	French, it appears, was almost all he learned at Brussels. Their obliging landlord dispensed vague draughts of learning. But a fellow-pupil remembered Arthur Wesley mainly for his devotion to the violin. For the Muse was easier to woo in foreign lodgings than at Eton. So the world  1785 glided into 1785; and he played on, as the slow days went by in Brussels. Ste. Gudule struck the hours; the light slanted from the west across the uneventful fields by Hougoumont; and in a Brussels room an awkward boy was playing on the violin.

	That year his education moved him on once more. Lady Mornington went home to England. But two years of Eton and twelve months of casual tutoring in Brussels being judged insufficient, he must go somewhere to be “finished”; and since his range included little in the way of manly accomplishments, he was consigned to Angers, where the fifth of a dynasty of riding-masters presided over a celebrated academy. It stood behind a noble grille of iron-work—such iron-work as Marie Antoinette, the Queen, passed through each time her coach rumbled discreetly off to Trianon and turned into the tiny drive before her tiny palace. But at Angers the shapely modern work was gracefully disposed under the very hulk of the Middle Ages, where King René’s castle lay—striped, blackened, and truncated—like a grounded leviathan. The tall Academy behind the grille was modern too—trim angles of white stone, a rounded hall, and at the back a flight of stately little steps descending from the tall façade, where art had carved a sheaf of palettes, French horns, and books, contrasted decorously opposite a panoply of arms, such armour, baldricks, and cuirasses as classical hero never wore. Its educational resources consisted mainly of a riding-school. But the curriculum included dancing lessons, together with a course in fencing. This happy blend was customary in such establishments, when dancing was apt to start at dawn, followed by riding, fencing, and a little grammar, with mathematics in the afternoon and a final dancing class to close the happy day. It was an age of elegance, when haute école and foils were felt to lack something if unaccompanied by Terpsichore. These studies, vaguely military in intention, were often followed by young gentlemen in search of a more general finish; and for about a year, his destiny being still uncertain, Arthur pursued them, walking the streets of Angers, seeing King Louis’ soldiers in their white, or pounding round the riding-school in strict accordance with the rules of horsemanship. But the niceties of haute école, even when expounded with hereditary fervour by M. de Pignerolle, were scarcely more attractive than construing Ovid; and his attention often wandered. It was far pleasanter to pass the time  Aet. 16 playing with his dog or dining with the local gentry. He was often at the Duc de Brissac’s, where the wine was poor and there was not much to eat, although their host had been an ornament of Versailles, under Louis XV. The old nobleman kept open house, though Pignerolle’s cadets were a little apt to make themselves unpleasant to injudicious guests.

	He saw a good deal of the French. There was one of them who had a brother in the Church named Talleyrand; and one day at the Duc de Praslin’s table he met an Abbé Sieyès, full of vague politics designed for the new Assembly of Notables and preparing to astound the world with his conundrum, Qu’est-ce que le Tiers État? He even retained a dim (and, most likely, unfounded) recollection of meeting Chateaubriand, then a wild-eyed subaltern in the King’s army. But his most congenial world was a small English set known, by the pleasing Continental practice of promiscuous ennoblement, as the groupe des lords. For more than one young gentleman of quality was sent to Angers, and among them a real lord or so. One pair, who lived in lodgings in the town and kept a famous cook, saw a good deal of Arthur. It was a cheerful world, where Pignerolle’s cadets tried their very hardest to be manly, lose money at the tables, run into debt, and pick really grown-up quarrels (bourgeois French parents were mildly shocked by the establishment, because “elle n’était remplie que de seigneurs Français ou Anglais, et . . . l’on ne connaissait pas de pays, où le libertinage, le jeu, le ton querelleur soient poussés plus loin que dans cette ville”), although their manliest efforts were occasionally contradicted by the school confectioner’s advertisements of sweets.

	Arthur, staring up in the big round bastions of the castle or watching the gaitered infantry go stiffly by in their three-cornered hats, was seventeen. He had been two years abroad; and it was time for him to find a calling. They found one for him, since his mother had announced without enthusiasm that he was “food for powder and nothing more.” Richard must use his influence and try to get him a commission. The rising man (he was in the ministry now, one of Mr. Pitt’s Junior Lords of the Treasury) approached the Lord-Lieutenant; and that potentate was presently informed of “a younger brother of mine, whom you were so kind as to take into your consideration for a commission in the army. He is here at this moment, and perfectly idle. It is a matter of indifference to me  1786 what commission he gets, provided he gets it soon.” Dangan was mortgaged, and there was not much to spare for the support of younger brothers. But Richard’s nonchalance was less uncritical than might appear, since there was at least one variety of commission which he felt to be unsuitable for Arthur. For he declined the artillery, feeling perhaps that Arthur’s birth (no less than Arthur’s education) unfitted him for service in the learned arm. Such scruples were not universal. Watched by another family, another widow’s son born the same summer and educated at another French academy was with his battery already. The pinched young subaltern, just seventeen and newly-joined, was deep in his gunnery. The guns attracted him; he even found a charm in mortars; and the frayed uniform grew dirtier than ever on the shadeless polygon of Valence. But then Lieutenant Bonaparte was not a Wesley, was not quite (as Arthur afterwards observed) a gentleman. Such ardours are not for Etonians. For Arthur’s reading eschewed Rousseau; less ardent, he composed no novelettes of passion; and at no moment of his life was he capable of five perusals of Werther. More equable, he waited for the Lord-Lieutenant, through the good offices of Richard, to do something for him. And in due course he did. For on March 7, 1787, Arthur Wesley received the King’s commission as Ensign in the Seventy-third. It was a Highland regiment; and, better still, it was in India, where there was not the slightest need for him to join it. 

	
V

	He was gazetted Ensign just in time for his eighteenth birthday. It was the year of Mr. Pitt’s Entente Cordiale and Hastings’ impeachment. Mr. Burke was tuning up the deeper notes of his invective; Boswell was writing hard; and Mr. Gibbon, busy with his final volume, enjoyed the prospect of his lake. The century seemed at high noon, though the shadows fell a little longer as the sun, that decorously gilded sun, declined towards its last decade. Its melody was fuller than ever. Don Giovanni was heard that year, and Gluck’s melodious shepherd mourned his Eurydice. Boucher was gone; but Fragonard still scattered rose-leaves. Countesses simpered for Gainsborough, and the cloaked Venetian maskers looked their most mysterious for Guardi. But they were all simpler (if a thought sweeter) now. For the sad tale of Paul et Virginie left no dry eyes that season, and the Queen of France was watching duchesses milk cows under the trees at Trianon, when Arthur Wesley first put on the red coat he was to wear, with impressive variations, halfway into the next century.

	He had a calling now, though scarcely a profession, since he could hardly live upon an Ensign’s pay; and their main anxiety was to find means of preventing him from following his unit to the East upon a pittance. Not that he shared their hesitations. The calling seemed to interest him and, as he said in later years, he “was not so young as not to know that since I had undertaken a profession I had better try to understand it.” His curiosity, which Latin elegiacs had singularly failed to stir, began to move; and in a laudable pursuit of knowledge he had a Highland private weighed in full marching-order. But the family curtailed these barrack-yard experiments. For something better must be found for Arthur than bare regimental prospects; and hope gleamed, as usual, from Dublin Castle. That autumn there was a new Lord-Lieutenant, and Lady Mornington promptly asked him to do something for her boy. His reply was more than charming. For the obliging man made him an aide-de-camp the very instant that he had his own appointment.  1787 Meanwhile, there was his leave to be arranged, his small belongings to be purchased, and (had he not been an Ensign for eight months?) something in the way of promotion. Advancement came to him through an ingenious series of exchanges rather than from any vulgar exercises in the barrack square. For the younger brother of a rising man found military life less arduous than a lonely gunner at Valence; and, after flickering uncertainly through the Ninth Foot, by Christmas he was a Lieutenant in the Seventy-sixth.

	There was so much to be contrived for him, and his mother worked her very hardest. Now she was prouder of him. For Angers had done wonders for her awkward son. He had not learnt to dance for nothing, and the Duc de Praslin’s table was a rare school of manners. Besides, the awkward age was over. He was eighteen; Eton was all forgiven now; and the grace acquired in French provincial châteaux quite effaced any shortcomings in his Latinity. So it was all written off to her two inseparable friends in Wales, and the “Dear Ladies” at Llangollen learned at becoming length from Lady Mornington how extremely obliging the Lord-Lieutenant had been, and how “there are so many little things to settle for Arthur who is just got into the army and is to go to Ireland in the capacity of Aid De Camp to Lord Buckingham, and must be set out a little for that, in short I must do every thing for him and when you see him you will think him worthy of it as he really is a very charming young man, never did I see such a change for the better in any body he is wonderfully lucky, in six months he has got two steps in the army and appointed Aid De Camp to Lord Buckingham which is ten shillings a day.” Her pride in him was almost breathless; and there was still much to be arranged. For his new regiment had been raised for service in India; and if Dublin Castle was to see its latest aide-de-camp, he must exchange again. So she was busier than ever on his account (with the added torment of an intolerable bout of toothache)—“I have so much to get settled for Arthur, that I am sure it will not be done in the time. The King has given him leave to go to Ireland only upon condition of making an exchange into another regiment, as the one he is in is destined for the East Indies, and it cannot go without its full compliment of officers; this will cost some money and take some time to effect it; but at all events he will be a gainer.” She seemed to grudge him nothing  Aet. 18 now; and it was all safely engineered at last. For in the first weeks of 1788 he got his transfer to the Forty-first; and, the laborious penury of foreign service thoughtfully eluded, the new aide-de-camp was packed off to Dublin. On the road he stopped to pay a call. For as they drove through Wales, he looked in upon the Ladies at Llangollen and earned the commendation of his mother’s friends—“Lady Dungannon and Arthur Wesley arrived. A charming young man. Handsome, fashioned tall, and elegant. He stayed till two, then proceeded to Ireland.”

	So he was back in Ireland, his formal education ended. It had been a strange affair. Two years of Latin elegiacs, followed by two years of—what? Of French, of haute école, of ballroom deportment, of dinner at the Praslins’. Yet he had managed somehow to profit by it, though the virtues that won his mother’s unexpected praise were rather social than military. His seat upon a horse was secure, if unattractive; his French was fluent, though he mastered it rather by vigorous assault than by more insidious methods (someone remarked in later years that he spoke French as he fought them—bravement); and in some mysterious way he had acquired a habit of private reading. But Dublin was unfriendly to studious habits, and Dublin resumed him—the cheerful, rather factious Dublin of 1788, where Lord Buckingham kept his Court and Mr. Grattan made his speeches. Chariots turned out of Dame Street, passed the Castle sentries, and set down before the Lord-Lieutenant’s door; and lights shewed in windows, where gentlemen were losing money at the tables or Dublin hostesses received. The aide-de-camp was seen at parties—not always to his advantage. For somebody refused an invitation to a picnic until she was assured that “that mischievous boy” would not be there; and one heartless beauty, upon whom his company had palled, went home alone and left him stranded to get back as best he could with the musicians. The bright Vice-regal world enveloped him and, Dublin completing what Angers had begun, he learned to point a toe and turn a compliment. He played as well and naturally lost; and, these diversions straining a yearly stipend of £172 9s. 3d., he was occasionally left to stare disconsolately at the Liffey from his windows on Lower Ormond Quay. But his landlord, a sympathetic bootmaker, relieved the young gentleman’s more pressing needs on loan, and was rewarded by full repayment and a place. Not all his rescuers were so fortunate. For a friend  1789 of his agent’s brother, who advanced £100 to Lieutenant Wesley in 1789, was repaid by Major-General Sir Arthur Wellesley in 1806.

	He had his duties too. For aides-de-camp were expected to ride out with the Lord-Lieutenant or to take their turn at Vice-regal ceremonies among the gilded pillars of St. Patrick’s Hall; nor was it quite without significance that when Lieutenant Wesley first saw the world, he saw it from behind a throne. Besides, his brother Mornington, busy with his own career at Westminster, was always giving him estate business to do. So he had quite enough to think about in Dublin—his debts, his duties, and his violin; for he still played. He had a change of uniform as well, though without promotion. But it was a convenience for him to get a regiment that was stationed in Ireland. Since no acute professional interests attached him to the infantry, a fresh exchange transferred him to the cavalry; and he was now Lieutenant Wesley of the Twelfth Dragoons. Within the month a mob went roaring against the Bastille, and the first heads were bobbing through the Paris streets on the first pikes. Mr. Fox was in ecstasies; but Dublin (and the Eighteenth Century) went on. The ladies danced; their masters dined; the aides-de-camp rode out as usual, though Arthur’s sister Anne enquired in some agitation of the Ladies of Llangollen, “A’n’t you sorry for poor dear France, I shall never see Paris again”; and as the echoes died away, Lieutenant Wesley was putting on his new cavalry uniform.

	A graver initiation waited, since he was nearly of age. Richard, the rising man in London, marshalled his forces. His brother William sat for their Irish borough. The post was not exacting; and, with Arthur growing up, William might very well be transferred to Westminster, while the young Castle aide-de-camp relieved him in the Irish House of Commons. So an English seat was found for William, and Arthur at twenty stood on the edge of Irish politics. Irish politics in 1790 were full of an uneasy stir. For there was positively an Irish question. Perhaps it had been answered at Bunker’s Hill. Had not Mr. Flood announced that “a voice from America had shouted to liberty”? Napper Tandy might even be the voice of the people (which France was now so busy proclaiming to be divine); and conceivably the truth might be with that ecstatic commentator who had recently distilled an apocalyptic nationalism from the Book of Revelation and heartened the Lord-Lieutenant in  Aet. 20 well-doing by the coincidence between the harps, the sea of glass, the linen robes of Holy Writ and Ireland’s coat of arms and leading manufactures. But borough-owners were largely untroubled by these lofty problems. For Castle politics in the age of Lord Chancellor Fitzgibbon were mercifully simple, consisting mainly in the humbler arts by which majorities are managed. Trim, represented by a Castle aide-de-camp, would be a unit in the Crown’s majority; but before he could perform these simple evolutions, Arthur must qualify to represent it. First he became a Freemason, being initiated into Lodge 494, of Trim, co. Meath. Then he ran his first political errand. It was a matter of some delicacy that brought him into Trim one March day in 1790. For the Corporation, it seemed, was about to confer its freedom upon Mr. Grattan, a proceeding that could scarcely be congenial to the Castle. The family was bound to oppose it; and before an audience of eighty Lieutenant Wesley made his first recorded public speech. According to his own report, he “got up and said that the only reason given why Mr. Grattan should get the freedom of the corporation was his respectability, that really if we were to admit every man because one or two people said he was respectable, the whole community would belong to the corporation, that he could never be of any use to us and never would attend, and that I would certainly object, however great my respect for him.” This was sensible enough. Then the orator grew more ingenious: “I said I should always vote for three sorts of people, those who were made to repel a party striving to turn the old family interest out of the borough,” for a lawyer who might be serviceable upon election business, and for local residents. The meeting adjourned. But the young emissary was not inactive during the adjournment, since “I told my friends that it was a question of party, that they must stick by me”; and under this strenuous leadership the opposition carried the previous question in triumph. On the same eventful day he announced his candidature, and was promptly buttonholed by an elderly voter, who declined to promise until he knew what Lord Mornington proposed to do about a bond for £70. This was extremely awkward; and the candidate, with rare discretion, “said I would have nothing to do with it, as in case of a General Election such a transaction would entirely vitiate my return.” The simple appetites of eighteenth-century electors stirred on every hand; but the youthful politician, though  1790 considerably embarrassed, was not unskilful: “I was in the most difficult situation I ever experienced, and only got out of it by sticking up manfully to what I first said. I must say that, although I was plagued with requests of all kinds and totally unable and disinclined to make any promise . . . they behaved as handsomely as people could do. . . . They are all fine fellows.”

	Such was his first engagement. It ended in a modest triumph and a gratified despatch to Richard. But politics, it seemed, drew him as little as soldiering, since a postscript added that, “I am still of the same opinion with regard to your going abroad, and hope you will accept my offer to accompany you.” Richard, however, stayed in England; and Arthur’s duty called, however faintly, in Ireland. For, his regiment apart, the assault on Trim was promptly followed up; the Irish Parliament dissolved that spring; and Arthur was returned in 1790 for the family borough. There was some fear of a petition; for malice had been heard to whisper that the young gentleman was not quite of age when Trim elected him. These apprehensions kept him busy. He left his regiment in June, and posted to Dublin for grave consultations with the Lord Chancellor and the Attorney-General. But his constituency was not neglected, since that summer he subscribed five guineas to the local races. The House met in July, and the petition was set down for hearing. But the petitioners failed to proceed; and, all apprehensions set at rest, Lieutenant Wesley was beyond dispute Member of Parliament for Trim.

	If contact with the Trim electors was an imperfect education in democracy, the Irish House of Commons was unlikely to impress its new recruit with the virtues of Parliamentary government. Two-thirds of that assembly owed their election to less than a hundred borough-owners; one-third were in receipt of salaries or pensions from the Crown; their collective appetites absorbed almost one-eighth of the Irish revenue; and it was not surprising that they rarely deviated from an inveterate conviction that the King’s government must be carried on. Such was the first assembly in which Arthur Wesley learned to legislate.

	Not that he legislated with any undue fervour. The rafters rang with the eloquence of Mr. Grattan; and he served modestly on a committee. Dublin repeated the latest sally of Sir Boyle Roche; and the Castle aide-de-camp was inconspicuously jobbing supporters into small places. His  Aet. 21 zeal enriched the public service with a deputy barrack-master, whilst another suppliant was safely lodged in the Lottery. But as the voices rose and fell behind the portico on College Green, Arthur Wesley’s never vied with the solemn note of Sir Hercules Langrishe; and for two years after his election he remained discreetly mute, a boyish-looking figure with a high colour, a red coat, and a large pair of epaulettes, sitting among the silent cohorts genially termed by Wolfe Tone “the common prostitutes of the Treasury Bench.” He was a Captain now, promoted in 1791 to command a company in the Fifty-eighth Foot on the Irish establishment, and regimental duty sometimes took him as far as Cork; though he soon turned cavalryman again, exchanging into the Eighteenth Light Dragoons in the next year. But he was mostly to be found in Dublin, on duty at the Castle, or strolling to the House of Commons from his rooms in Grafton Street, or else at Dangan deep in new tenancies, ejectments, renewals, and all the fierce joys of estate management. That noble property was a sad trial to them now. There was the mortgage interest to be found. And for what? The big iron gates were always waiting, their tracery etched on the ragged skies of Meath; and the long drive still led down the hill and over the bridge across the ornamental water. But they never seemed to go there. No organ-music woke the hall; the still canal heard no more water-concerts; and the garden gods waited forlornly in their temples. Besides, the intrepid Richard needed cash for his assault on Westminster. His ties with Ireland were always of the slightest (did he not live to resent his own Irish marquessate as a “double-gilt potato”?), and he had turned his back on Dublin. There was the seat at Trim, of course; a vote on College Green was not without its uses; and it would be as well for them to keep their hold on Castle favours through the family borough. But Arthur could look after that. There was no need for Dangan, though. Richard had never cared for it. What did a rising man in London want with a mortgaged Irish mansion? Mr. Pitt could surely see his worth without that to set him off. His discreetly orthodox opinions on the Regency question were even approved by Majesty itself, now happily restored to reason; and when Windsor smiled, Dangan was surely far behind him. So before 1792 was out, the place was for sale.

	While Richard spread his wings in London for these impressive  1792 flights, obedient Arthur stayed behind in Ireland. His brother’s deputy (and Irish patriots found hard things to say of “the petty pilfering, jobbing, corrupting tricks of every deputy of a deputy of an English minister”), he cultivated Meath electors, subscribed ten guineas to the Corporation plate, and earned Mornington’s slightly condescending praises for his management of Trim, “where by his excellent judgment, amiable manners, admirable temper, and firmness he has entirely restored the interest of my family.” Versed in these unobtrusive arts, he even made a maiden speech, rising to second the Address one January day in 1793. It was a fluttered world, in which the French—wild-eyed and shouting unfamiliar songs—threatened by turns to conquer Holland and behead their king, and an exuberant Minister of Marine promised his countrymen the added joys of a descent on England with the pleasing objects of depositing fifty thousand caps of liberty, planting its sacred tree, and holding out fraternal hands to the groaning subjects of King George. Small wonder, then, that Captain Wesley, seconding the Address on College Green, hazarded the blameless sentiment that “at a time when opinions were spreading throughout Europe inimical to kingly government it behoved us, in a particular manner, to lay before our gracious Sovereign our determination to support and maintain the constitution,” with more (but not much more) to the same effect. Taking a wider survey he “reprobated, in very severe terms, the conduct of the French towards their king, and their invasion of the territories of foreign princes, and their irruption into the Austrian Netherlands.” Then, returning homewards, he particularly approved a faintly liberal allusion to the Catholic question in the Speech from the Throne—“He had no doubt of the loyalty of the Catholics of this country, and he trusted that when the question would be brought forward, respecting that description of men, that we would lay aside all animosities, and act with moderation and dignity, and not with the fury and violence of partizans.” It was a theme on which fuller reflection brought him worse counsel.

	But Catholic Emancipation in 1793 was, by a queer inversion, the policy of sound reactionaries. Pitt was propitious; Burke could not forget that he was an Irishman; Popery itself grew daily more congenial to all who ranged themselves with Catholic allies against the godless excesses of Paris; and even the Castle gave a sulky acquiescence. Its drilled majority,  Aet. 23 sometimes a little out of step, obediently passed a Catholic Relief Bill, which conferred the franchise and removed the major disabilities, excepting the exclusion of Catholics from Parliament. That must be maintained; for who would lay an impious finger on the palladium of Protestant ascendancy? Not Arthur Wesley, since he was positively chosen as the Castle spokesman to resist the bold amendment. It was his second speech in Parliament; and since his first the whole world was changed. For a king’s head had fallen in Paris, and England was at war. The fact, though he might not suspect it, concerned him intimately. It concerned, indeed, his whole generation and Anglo-Irish younger sons more than most. For the bland decorum of the Eighteenth Century was sharply interrupted by a new age, which the fantastic calendar of Paris did well to date from the Year One. Elegance went out of fashion; and young gentlemen who trailed a graceful scabbard after the Lord-Lieutenant were a thought behind the mode. A stir was in the air, as Europe drifted into its long duel with the Revolution; and the war, of which a Castle aide-de-camp watched the opening from Dublin, came closer to him until, a little grey about the temples, he observed its final scene from the saddle above Hougomont.

	But as the drums began to sound in February, 1793, he was speaking in the Irish House of Commons. This time he managed to abstain from general reflections. His tone, though unsympathetic to the full Catholic claims, was reasonable. For having voted for the Catholic franchise, he “had no objection to giving the Roman Catholics the benefits of the constitution.” But there were plainly limits; and a Parliament of Papists seemed to exceed them. When both sides were satisfied with a more gradual measure, the cautious young gentleman declined to “agitate a question which may disturb both.” Not that he was a Protestant alarmist. His common-sense scouted the orthodox dismay at visions of enfranchised Papists voting solidly behind their priests—“Have not Roman Catholics, like Protestants, various interests and various passions by which they are swayed? The influence of their landlords—their good or bad opinion of the candidates—their own interests—and a thousand other motives? It appeared to him that they would not vote in a body, or as had been supposed, if the bill should pass in its present form; but if the motion of the honourable gentleman should be adopted, then indeed  1793 they would undoubtedly unite in support of Roman Catholic candidates.” This was a fair sample of moderate opinion from a young gentleman on the Castle list whose brother wished to stand well with Mr. Pitt. In that judicious mood much might have been done for Ireland. But it was the year 1793; and it is the fate of Irish hopes to be dashed by European wars.

	The world was stirring around him. But his interests seemed all to lie in Ireland. His seat in Parliament, his place at Court kept him in Dublin; affairs occasionally called him to Dangan; and regimental duty took him no farther than an Irish barrack. There were other interests as well. For Lord Longford had a sister; Kitty Pakenham had a pair of bright eyes; and Captain Wesley often called at Rutland Square. Vows were exchanged; but what are vows without a competence? Longford, considering his sister’s prospects on a Captain’s pay, was stern. Plainly the couple could not marry. But Arthur might find out a way—there was no need for him always to be a Captain. Richard must manage something for him. So that spring he wrote to Richard; the purchase money was advanced; and before April was out, he was a Major in the Thirty-third. But it was not enough to be a Major. If Kitty was to be achieved, he must rise in his profession. Cards had betrayed him more than once; and card-playing was promptly forsworn. He had a deeper passion, though, which seemed to stand between him and promotion. For music (was he not his father’s son?) absorbed his leisure; and a violin was often in his hand. Music had brought his father almost to poverty, and a little grimly he resolved to break the charm. Besides, it would never do for a promising young officer to indulge in secret orgies of the violin. To say the least, it was not martial. Brass, perhaps; or even wood-wind (Frederick the Great had played the flute); but scarcely strings. His head, if it was ever to wear laurels, must be filled with drill-ground evolutions, not with the adorable intricacies of counterpoint or the sweet wail of strings. So one day in that eventful summer of 1793 he burned his fiddle. He never touched another, though the taste lived on in him. For dinner-parties years away were carried off from Apsley House to hear the Ancient Concerts; their host’s preference was understood to lie with Handel, and even with Corelli, though the severity of the programme was somewhat mitigated by his invariable seat upon a special  Aet. 24 sofa between two handsome women. He could still take pleasure in a lady’s touch upon the harp, and was assiduous at the Opera, when Jenny Lind was singing; his wrist, although he only used it now for carrying the Sword of State upright in the House of Lords, remained supple as a violinist’s; and once in later years, when Madame Lieven played some waltzes on the pianoforte, he supported her (an executant once more) upon the triangle. There was always a thin strain of music in him. But the charm was broken now. His father’s fate had warned him; and when Major Wesley, in hopes of Kitty Pakenham, resolved to be a soldier, the flames licked a broken violin in Dublin. Perhaps an artist died. He never cared to have it spoken of. 

	
VI

	That summer, as the Queen of France sat waiting in her prison, the storm broke. It had climbed slowly up the sky; and as it climbed, the light died out of Europe. There was a hush, and the familiar sounds came plainly over the still air—the tap of heels, the rustle of polite society, the scratch of rhyming pens, the buzz of coffee-houses, and even the level voice of Mr. Pitt assuring the hopeful Commons that “unquestionably there never was a time in the history of this country, when, from the situation of Europe, we might more reasonably expect fifteen years of peace than at the present moment.” His hope died on the silence, and the dainty world began to lose its colours. For a cloud had swung across the sun, and a long shadow seemed to fall across the trim parterres. Even Mr. Pitt could see it now. “The war,” he observed, with a singular change of heart, “is not only unavoidable, but, under the circumstances of the case, absolutely necessary to the existence of Great Britain and Europe.” The skies were leaden; and Burke raved in the gathering gloom, while Gibbon with grave elaboration begged leave to agree with him—“I admire his eloquence, I adore his chivalry, and I can almost excuse his reverence for church establishments.” The century, the eternal Eighteenth Century, had turned to bay; and all its children—positive, polite, and sceptical—took up their places for the conflict. For the storm broke that summer; and the thunder which had muttered above Paris rolled halfway round the world. There was a sudden gleam of bayonets; and Europe marched, as the French rallied round the great voice of Danton. But before the stiff battalions of the Monarchies could reach their stations, France dashed to meet them, breaking like surf along the frontiers. Austrians pounded the northern fortresses; the Prussians barely held along the Rhine; Spain moved deliberately in the sunshine of the Pyrenees; and half the west was up in the King’s name, while Britons resolved with loud huzzas to—

	  

	stand by the Church, and the King, and the Laws;

	The old Lion still has his teeth and his claws;

	 

	Let Britain still rule in the midst of her waves,

	And chastise all those foes who dare call her sons slaves.

	Derrydown.

	 

	The surf rose higher now; a wilder melody hung on the air above its Aet. 24 charges. But the seventh wave was still delayed. Perhaps it lurked among the shallows, where a lean captain of artillery trailed dustily along a road near Avignon in charge of sixteen gunners and two guns. It was his first command. For Captain Bonaparte was an apprentice, the long form of Carnot sprawled in the dust of office floors across his maps to shift the candles with his armies, and the heads were falling fast in Paris, when Major Wesley took to soldiering.

	But soldiering in such a season meant rather more than the punctual performance of regimental duties in Irish barrack squares. It was not quite enough for him to jingle spurs in Dublin corridors behind the Lord-Lieutenant; and that summer he was writing once again to Richard, desiring him “to ask Mr. Pitt to desire Lord Westmorland to send me as Major to one of the flank corps. If they are to go abroad, they will be obliged to take officers from the line, and they may as well take me as anybody else. . . . I think it both dangerous and improper to remove any part of the army from this country at present, but if any part of it is to be moved, I should like to go with it, and have no chance of seeing service except with the flank corps, as the regiment I have got into as Major is the last for service.” He must see service, if he was to rise in his profession. But his application, if it was ever made, was disregarded—fortunately, perhaps, since the flank companies despatched that year from Ireland went off to die of yellow fever in Martinique. So Arthur Wesley eluded the crowded cemetery at Fort Royal, to say nothing of the more dreadful fate that waits upon returned heroes of Colonial warfare. For their conversation, a just object of alarm, abounded in the tedium of concealed enemies and cocoa trees—“Here stood the enemy . . . and here, my love, are my fellows: there the cocoa trees. . . .” How the delicious Harriette learned to dread that opening in later years. But whatever else Miss Wilson had cause to fear from Arthur, it was never that.

	The Thirty-third still kept the peace in Ireland; and the assiduous Major drilled his men, as the world reeled through the stupendous calendar of ’93. His century, with all that Arthur Wesley lived for—Dublin  1793 Castle, Dangan, and the King’s uniform—was assailed that year. 93 est la guerre de l’Europe contre la France et de la France contre Paris. . . . De là l’immensité de cette minute épouvantable, 93, plus grande que tout le reste du siècle. He missed the rhapsody, perhaps, but caught a little of the uproar. For his countrymen were shouting Dibdin’s chorus:

	  

	Thus in famed Ninety-three

	Britons all shall agree,

	While with one heart and voice in loud chorus they sing,

	To improve “Ça ira” into “God Save the King!”

	 

	That summer, as the armies swayed along the frontier, Paris raved. There was a fever of eloquence, a rash of tricolour cockades, a frenzy of citizenship. Voices rose shriller now on the still air above the stifling city; the big knife clanked down at briefer intervals in the great square beyond the Tuileries; and France, beside herself, shewed the pale face of the Terror like a Medusa’s head to the oncoming battalions of the invasion. Marat died in those hot weeks and Charlotte Corday; and a young man stood muttering, as the cart went by, that it were beautiful to die with her. But Arthur Wesley was still drilling redcoats in the soft Irish sunshine. He went to England in the autumn. For Dangan had found a purchaser at last; and when Richard signed away the big square house, Arthur witnessed his signature. They had no ornamental water now; the garden gods knew other owners; and the family, their castle gone, depended solely upon Richard and his soaring prospects. That day the guns were opening above Toulon, watched by a “short, taciturn, olive-complexioned young man, not unknown to us, by name Buonaparte,” ranking now as Lieutenant-Colonel.

	Arthur was soon promoted too; and as the gunfire echoed round the hills behind Toulon, Lieutenant-Colonel Wesley went back to Ireland to command the Thirty-third. (From Ensign to Lieutenant-Colonel in less than seven years was creditable going—more creditable, perhaps, to influence and army-brokers than to military science. But there was little need for a Lieutenant-Colonel to blush at twenty-four, when Kitty Pakenham’s brother was a Major at seventeen, and Cotton had a regiment at twenty-one and Lowry Cole at twenty-two.) As the leaves fell, the crisis deepened. Disordered tides of war raced round the coasts of Europe; a Paris court-room heard the unpleasant voice of Fouquier-Tinville  Aet. 24 denounce a hunted woman, grey-haired at thirty-eight, as a Messalina, a Medicis, a Merovingian tyrant; the French infantry went roaring up the slope through the October mist at Wattignies; in Paris the knife fell and rose again and fell; and Arthur Wesley still sat on in Dublin, busy with regimental accounts. Late in the year, though, there was a vague hint of active service. For the strategy of British ministers is normally composed of a vast number of divergent gestures; and finding their commitments in Flanders, Provence, and the West Indies palpably insufficient for an army of 20,000 men, they gaily contemplated a descent on Normandy. A force was fitting out at Portsmouth for the French coast, and there was a notion that the Thirty-third would sail with it. Sudden departures are no less disturbing to gentlemen of honour than to their creditors, and Arthur made careful dispositions to discharge his Dublin debts, his income being assigned to an obliging tradesman who undertook to pay them off. But Moira’s expedition started down-Channel on its aimless cruise without the Thirty-third; and as the year went out, Colonel Wesley was left standing in the wings, still waiting for his cue.

	Dublin retained him, as a fresh year opened and the echoes of a world at war floated across St. George’s Channel. They were still there in February. Spring came, the dreadful spring of ’94, when Revolution, thirsting still and gorged with its enemies, turned unnaturally upon its own children. The Girondins had gone already, gone singing down the narrow street that ended in the waiting crowd, the planks, the angular machine. He was in Cork, still striking regimental balances the month a big, square-shouldered form came up against the evening sky in Paris and stared across a packed and silent square muttering, “Danton, no weakness.” May found him there as well, still signing army forms. But the next month they got their orders; and Colonel Wesley prepared to take his first battalion on his first active service. It fell, by the symmetry of fate, in Belgium.

	The skein of war was slightly tangled. Rarely without complexity for Allies and always apt to yield its richest tangles to Austrian fingers, it bore extensive witness to the welter of cross-purposes which was the Allied substitute for strategy. Soldiers of European standing did their solemn best to conduct a war as wars should be conducted. Having learnt  1794 their profession fighting against or under Frederick the Great, they took measures admirably calculated to outmanœuvre a Prussian army of 1760. But the delicate precision of their military minuet somehow failed of its effect upon the coarser fibre of French Demi brigades in 1793. Fashions, perhaps, were changing; and at Hondschoote the prim tactics of the Eighteenth Century met the untutored onslaught of the Nineteenth with all the gaucherie of last year’s fashions at a dress-parade. Besides, there was the Revolution. It appeared to affect them in the oddest manner, so that troops, which by every rule were off the board, insisted upon scrambling to the attack without a vestige of formation, shouting the most unusual songs. It was all highly disconcerting. Military science was almost wasted on such adversaries. For armies threatened with complete (if theoretical) disaster by the loss of a strategical point failed from sheer ignorance to notice it, and pressed obstinately forward. The best military minds had learnt to play at war as other men at chess; but chess is rarely satisfactory with an opponent who declines to learn the rules and is more than a little apt to spill the board. So the stiff Kaiserlicks tramped dutifully in all directions, and nothing came of it. White-coated infantry faced with cerise, with mauve, with green, with every colour in the Imperial spectrum moved in strict obedience to orders; gunners in grey tilted their big tricornes and served little guns; preposterously hatted units threw pontoon bridges across slow-flowing Flemish rivers; while, furred and frogged, hussars of every shade—Kaiser in blue, Barco in blue and green, Wurmser in green and scarlet—jingled off, watched by respectful villagers, or dismounting stiffly from red saddle-cloths with the big Hapsburg cipher trailed their long scabbards over the Flemish cobblestones. It was a brave display; but nothing came of it. For the skein of war was tangled. Wound by the Emperor, the King of Prussia, the Reich, King George, the Cabinet, the Duke of York, and half the Almanach de Gotha, it abounded in sudden turns that led nowhere, and was generously involved with every knot of European policy. (Few campaigns are less rewarding than those directed by Foreign Office strategy.) For in ’94 the crusading march of outraged Europe upon Paris had degenerated sadly. Checked at Mauberge the year before, it declined after Tourcoing to a precarious defensive strung awkwardly along the Belgian frontier. France gathered strength in front of them,  Aet. 25 and the invaders halted in a mood of dull bewilderment, resolved apparently to await its impact in the impressive posture of a sanitary cordon. But the dispositions convenient to frontier-guards in dealing with infected persons will not usually avail to check a nation in arms.

	Somewhere towards the right of this depressed array a British contingent, shaken at Tourcoing and more than a little jaded by the endless series of aimless withdrawals and attacks that were not followed up, stood waiting in the Flanders plain. Waiting, indeed, appeared to be their leading occupation. For, apart from one major (and distinctly unsatisfying) engagement and a few dashing encounters, their derisive countrymen had summarised their operations with tolerable accuracy:

	  

	The rare old Duke of York,

	He had ten thousand men;

	He marched ’em up to the top of the hill,

	And he marched ’em down again.

	 

	The Duke, indeed, was young; his command was in the neighbourhood of thirty thousand; and there were no hills in sight. But, these facts conceded, there was little fault to find with the disrespectful précis of their position and prospects. Vaguely alarmed, the Cabinet sent reinforcements. For Ostend was palpably in danger. It has been observed that Belgian ports hold a peculiar power of fascinating English statesmen; and their heads are sadly affected by names which, in the case of Queen Mary, were harmlessly engraved upon the heart. Ostend, like Antwerp, had the fatal charm. So the Thirty-third were moved at last: they sailed from Cork in the first week of June; and after nineteen days at sea Colonel Wesley landed his regiment at Ostend.

	He was on active service now. Had not an elderly Colonel of the Guards warned him of its approaching trials—“You little know what you are going to meet with. You will often have no dinner at all. I mean,” the horrified Guardsman had added, “literally no dinner, and not merely roughing it on a beefsteak or a bottle of port wine.” The forecast was correct. For the Duke’s army lacked almost everything. There was even a shortage of generals; and their exiguous supplies reached the dejected redcoats through the intermittent activities of the new Waggon Train, known (from their origins and tunic) as the “Newgate Blues.” Once more a British army swore terribly in Flanders.  1794 For it was a continuation of Marlborough’s wars conducted with much of Marlborough’s equipment and lacking only Marlborough to complete the resemblance. But Arthur Wesley and the rest of Moira’s reinforcements were still among the sand-hills of Ostend. The Colonel found himself commanding a brigade of three battalions; and when Moira marched away to join the main Allied army, Wesley’s brigade was left as rearguard “to settle matters at Ostend” (the French, including a young Colonel named Murat, were getting near) “and then to come on as quick as I could.” Ostend was promptly evacuated; and preferring a short sea voyage to a dangerous flank-march in face of an advancing enemy, he re-embarked his men, put them on shore again at Antwerp, and reached the Duke of York’s position before the leading files of Moira’s force which had come overland. So his first minor operation comprised a deft retreat and a neat use of the ubiquity conferred by sea-power on British expeditionary forces.

	There was an agonised succession of Allied conferences, while the line still held uneasily in front of Brussels. They met at Braine-l’Alleud; they met again, by a felicitous choice, at Waterloo. But with Austrians to line it, that position was scarcely at its best. The French tide was running strongly across Belgium; and finally each Ally went his way. For the last strand of Allied strategy had almost parted. The Austrians trailed off towards the east, while the Duke of York, receding slowly northwards, still undertook to keep the French out of Holland by the united efforts of the Dutch, his own little army, and a few German troops in British pay. Then the retreat began. There was a small affair at Boxtel in Dutch Brabant one September day, when Arthur Wesley took his battalion into action under the eye of Abercromby. The Thirty-third were competently handled, holding their fire in face of the oncoming French until their Colonel ordered a volley. The old General (whose bushy eyebrows gave one, as someone said, “the idea of a very good-natured lion”) called a few days later to convey “the Duke of York’s thanks and his to the Thirty-third for their good conduct on the 15th.” But these laurels failed to dazzle him, since the same letter which conveyed the news to Richard announced that he would be back in Ireland before the winter was out. There was the usual trouble with their Irish tenants; and as he lay in front of Nijmegen, Arthur’s mind  Aet. 25 was full of small practical expedients of estate-management in Ireland. Not that his eye, as it turned homewards, was blurred by sentiment; for as he offered slightly contradictory counsels, he added tartly, “This is Irish language, but not less true for that country of scoundrels.”

	The winter deepened round them, and the retreat went on through the dreary landscape and grotesque nomenclature of the Netherlands. They stood along the Waal; and Arthur, whose health was none too good, lived in a perpetual rearguard action. Now he commanded a brigade, and acted in virtual independence—“I was on the Waal, I think, from October to January, and during all that time I only saw once one General from the headquarters.” But the young Brigadier, haunted by thoughts of leave, commanded without especial gusto. Hope gleamed a little, as the French hung on the edge of winter-quarters—“I think it impossible for any troops (even the French) to keep the field in this severe weather. As soon as their intentions are decided I intend to go to England.” The French, alas! were ignorant of these refinements, and frankly disinclined to treat campaigning as a seasonal occupation. Besides, the season, however unpleasant, was particularly propitious for their offensive, since the frost eliminated water-lines which must otherwise have served as strong defences. So the war flickered along his outposts through the black nights of a Dutch winter—“We turn out once, sometimes twice every night; the officers and men are harassed to death. . . . I have not had my clothes off my back for a long time, and generally spend the greater part of the night upon the bank of the river.” By day the enemy were entertaining enough, “perpetually chattering with our officers and soldiers,” and ready to oblige on request with lively performances of the Carmagnole. But as he watched the ice packs grinding in the Waal or wrote out his endless regimental accounts, he still thought of leave—“I intend to go to England in a few days, that is to say, if the French remain quiet, and if the regiment is relieved from the advanced post upon the river Waal, where it has been for above six weeks.” The French, however, with republican discourtesy resumed the offensive; and in the last week of the year the Thirty-third cleared a Dutch village with the bayonet.
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